

Chapter 607

Article 7

Proposed Changes

1 607.0701 Annual meeting.—

2 (1) Unless directors are elected by written consent in lieu of an annual meeting as permitted
3 by s. 607.0704, aA corporation shall hold a meeting of shareholders annually, for the election of
4 directors and for the transaction of any proper business, at a time stated in or fixed in accordance
5 with the bylaws; provided, however, that if a corporation's articles of incorporation authorize
6 shareholders to cumulate their votes when electing directors pursuant to s. 607.0728, directors
7 may not be elected by written consent of the shareholders unless the consent is unanimous.

8 (2) Annual shareholders' meetings may be held in or out of this state at a place stated in or
9 fixed in accordance with the bylaws or, when not inconsistent with the bylaws, stated in the
10 notice of the annual meeting. If no place is stated in or fixed in accordance with the bylaws, or
11 stated in the notice of the annual meeting, annual meetings shall be held at the corporation's
12 principal office.

13 (3) The failure to hold the annual meeting at the time stated in or fixed in accordance with a
14 corporation's bylaws or pursuant to this act does not affect the validity of any corporate action
15 and shall not work a forfeiture of or dissolution of the corporation.

16 (4) Participation of shareholders and proxy holders at an annual meeting of shareholders by
17 remote communication shall be governed by and subject to the provisions of s.607.0709. If
18 authorized by the board of directors, and subject to such guidelines and procedures as the board
19 of directors may adopt, shareholders and proxy holders not physically present at an annual
20 meeting of shareholders may, by means of remote communication:

21 —(a) ~~Participate in an annual meeting of shareholders.~~

22 —(b) ~~Be deemed present in person and vote at an annual meeting of shareholders, whether~~
23 ~~such meeting is to be held at a designated place or solely by means of remote communication,~~
24 ~~provided that:~~

25 —1. ~~The corporation shall implement reasonable measures to verify that each person deemed~~
26 ~~present and permitted to vote at the annual meeting by means of remote communication is a~~
27 ~~shareholder or proxy holder;~~

28 —2. ~~The corporation shall implement reasonable measures to provide such shareholders or~~
29 ~~proxy holders a reasonable opportunity to participate in the annual meeting and to vote on~~

30 ~~matters submitted to the shareholders, including, without limitation, an opportunity to~~
31 ~~communicate and to read or hear the proceedings of the annual meeting substantially~~
32 ~~concurrently with such proceedings; and~~

33 ~~— 3. If any shareholder or proxy holder votes or takes other action at the annual meeting by~~
34 ~~means of remote communication, a record of such vote or other action shall be maintained by the~~
35 ~~corporation.~~

36 **Commentary:**

37 1. Although this language does not appear in the RMBCA, the words “and shall not work a
38 forfeiture of or dissolution of the corporation” were left in subsection (3). There was a belief that
39 whether or not this language is included, this is a correct statement of the law. However, a
40 concern was expressed that removing this language might be misinterpreted as a change in the
41 law. As a result, the language was left in the statute.

42 2. Subsection (4) was removed in favor of adding new Section 607.0709, which will include all
43 provisions regarding participation in shareholder meetings by remote communications.

44 3. The Subcommittee decided that companies should be allowed to hold an annual meeting
45 solely by remote communication or by way of a written consent under Section 607.0704, even if
46 one or more shareholders object and would prefer to hold an in-person meeting.

47

48

49 607.0702 Special meeting.—

50 (1) A corporation shall hold a special meeting of shareholders:

51 (a) On call of its board of directors or the person or persons authorized to do so by the
52 articles of incorporation or bylaws; or

53 (b) If the holders of not less than 10 percent, unless a greater percentage not to exceed 50
54 percent is required by the articles of incorporation, of all the votes entitled to be cast on any issue
55 proposed to be considered at the proposed special meeting sign, date, and deliver to the
56 corporation’s secretary one or more written demands for the meeting describing the purpose or
57 purposes for which it is to be held. Unless otherwise provided in the articles of incorporation, a
58 written demand for a special meeting may be revoked by a writing to that effect received by the
59 corporation prior to the receipt by the corporation of demands sufficient in number to require the
60 holding of a special meeting.

61 (2) Special shareholders’ meetings may be held in or out of the state at a place stated in or
62 fixed in accordance with the bylaws or, when not inconsistent with the bylaws, in the notice of

63 the special meeting. If no place is stated in or fixed in accordance with the bylaws or in the
64 notice of the special meeting, special meetings shall be held at the corporation's principal office.

65 (3) Only business within the purpose or purposes described in the special meeting notice
66 required by s. 607.0705 may be conducted at a special shareholders' meeting.

67 (4) Participation of shareholders and proxy holders at a special meeting of shareholders by
68 remote communication shall be governed by and subject to the provisions of s.607.0709. If
69 authorized by the board of directors, and subject to such guidelines and procedures as the board
70 of directors may adopt, shareholders and proxy holders not physically present at a special
71 meeting of shareholders may, by means of remote communication:

72 ~~—(a) Participate in a special meeting of shareholders.~~

73 ~~—(b) Be deemed present in person and vote at a special meeting of shareholders, whether~~
74 ~~such meeting is to be held at a designated place or solely by means of remote communication,~~
75 ~~provided that:~~

76 ~~—1. The corporation shall implement reasonable measures to verify that each person deemed~~
77 ~~present and permitted to vote at the special meeting by means of remote communication is a~~
78 ~~shareholder or proxy holder;~~

79 ~~—2. The corporation shall implement reasonable measures to provide such shareholders or~~
80 ~~proxy holders a reasonable opportunity to participate in the special meeting and to vote on~~
81 ~~matters submitted to the shareholders, including, without limitation, an opportunity to~~
82 ~~communicate and to read or hear the proceedings of the special meeting substantially~~
83 ~~concurrently with such proceedings; and~~

84 ~~—3. If any shareholder or proxy holder votes or takes other action at the special meeting by~~
85 ~~means of remote communication, a record of such vote or other action shall be maintained by the~~
86 ~~corporation.~~

87 **Commentary:**

88 1. Subsection (4) was removed in favor of adding new Section 607.0709, which will include all
89 provisions regarding participation in shareholder meetings by remote communications.

90

91

92 607.0703 Court-ordered meeting.—

93 (1) The circuit court of the county where a corporation's principal office is located, if
94 located in this state, or where a corporation's registered office is located if its principal office is

95 not located in this state, may, ~~after notice to the corporation,~~ summarily order a meeting to be
96 held:

97 (a) On application of any shareholder ~~of the corporation~~ entitled to vote ~~in~~ at an annual
98 meeting if neither an annual meeting has ~~not~~ been held nor action by written consent in lieu
99 thereof has become effective within any ~~13~~ 15-month period; or

100 (b) On application of a shareholder who signed a demand for a special meeting valid under
101 s. 607.0702, if:

102 1. Notice of the special meeting was not given within 60 days after the date the demand
103 was delivered to the corporation's secretary; or

104 2. The special meeting was not held in accordance with the notice.

105 (2) The court may fix the time and place of the meeting, determine the shares entitled to
106 participate in the meeting, specify a record date or dates for determining shareholders entitled to
107 notice of and to vote at the meeting, prescribe the form and content of the meeting notice, fix the
108 quorum by voting group required for matters to be considered at the meeting (or direct that the
109 votes of a voting group represented at the meeting constitute a quorum of such voting group for
110 action on those matters), and enter other orders ~~as may be appropriate~~ necessary to accomplish
111 the purpose or purposes of the meeting.

112 **Commentary:**

113 1. The words "after notice to the corporation" were deleted in subsection (1). This language is
114 not in the RMBCA. This change is not intended to be a substantive change, since the company
115 will have to be notified of the action through the service of process in the lawsuit. Further, this
116 change is not intended to authorize or allow an ex parte action.

117 2. The word "summarily" has been added to the language at the end of subsection (1) regarding
118 the Court's power to order a meeting. This language matches the language in Section 7.03(a) of
119 the RMBCA and corresponds with other existing similar references throughout Chapter 607 and
120 in the Delaware corporate statute. The use of the word "summarily" is intended to urge courts to
121 act quickly on this type of request, possibly through, within the applicable power and discretion
122 of the court, expedited briefing and a quick decision.

123 3. The words "of the corporation" were removed from (1)(a). This is not intended to be a
124 substantive change, since the definition of "shareholder" in Section 607.0141(24) states that a
125 shareholder is a holder of shares in the corporation.

126 4. The time frame in subsection (1)(a) was changed from 13 months to 15 months so that it is
127 consistent with Section 7.03(a)(1) of the RMBCA. The 60 day provision in Section
128 607.0703(1)(b) was not changed, despite the shorter 30 day period contained in Section

129 7.03(a)(2) of the RMBCA. Under the commentary that was prepared at the time of adoption of
130 the current FBCA, this longer period was an intentional deviation from the RMBCA and was
131 intended to give public companies more time to comply with applicable Exchange Act
132 requirements if a demand for a meeting has been received.

133 5. Section 607.0703(1)(a) was amended to make clear that a court may not order an annual
134 meeting if shareholders have acted by written consent to elect directors, in accordance with
135 Section 607.0701(1), within the 15-month period.

136 6. The words “or dates was added to Section 607.0703(2) to recognize the ability of a
137 corporation, at its option, to establish bi-furcated record dates. In addition, the broader RMBCA
138 language in Section 7.03(b) replaces the language in current Section 607.0703(2). Further,
139 language was added to make clear that courts have the authority to establish quorum
140 requirements for separate voting groups.

141

142

143 607.0704 Action by shareholders without a meeting.—

144 (1) Unless otherwise provided in the articles of incorporation, action required or permitted
145 by this act to be taken at an annual or special meeting of shareholders may be taken without a
146 meeting, without prior notice, and without a vote if the action is taken by the holders of
147 outstanding stock of each voting group entitled to vote thereon having not less than the minimum
148 number of votes with respect to each voting group that would be necessary to authorize or take
149 such action at a meeting at which all voting groups and shares entitled to vote thereon were
150 present and voted. In order to be effective the action must be evidenced by one or more written
151 consents describing the action taken, dated and signed by approving shareholders having the
152 requisite number of votes of each voting group entitled to vote thereon, and delivered to the
153 corporation by delivery to its principal office in this state, its principal place of business, the
154 corporate secretary, or another officer or agent of the corporation having custody of the book in
155 which proceedings of meetings of shareholders are recorded. No written consent shall be
156 effective to take the corporate action referred to therein unless, within 60 days of the date of the
157 earliest dated consent delivered in the manner required by this section, written consents signed
158 by shareholders owning a sufficient number of shares ~~the number of shareholders~~ required to
159 authorize or take the action are delivered to the corporation by delivery as set forth in this
160 section.

161 (2) Any written consent may be revoked prior to the date that the corporation receives the
162 required number of consents to authorize the proposed action. No revocation is effective unless
163 in writing and until received by the corporation at its principal office or received by the corporate

164 secretary or other officer or agent of the corporation having custody of the book in which
165 proceedings of meetings of shareholders are recorded.

166 (3) Within 10 days after (i) written consents sufficient to authorize or take the action have
167 been delivered to the corporation, or (ii) such later date that tabulation of consents is completed
168 pursuant to an authorization under subsection (4) ~~obtaining such authorization by written~~
169 ~~consent~~, notice must be given to those shareholders who have not consented in writing or who
170 are not entitled to vote on the action. The notice shall fairly summarize the material features of
171 the authorized action and, if the action be such for which appraisal dissenters² rights are provided
172 under this act, the notice shall contain a clear statement of the right of shareholders entitled to
173 assert appraisal rights under this act with respect to the action ~~dissenting therefrom~~ to be paid the
174 fair value of their shares upon compliance with further provisions of this act regarding the rights
175 of ~~dissenting~~ shareholders entitled to assert appraisal rights under this act with respect to the
176 action.

177 (4) A consent signed under this section has the effect of a meeting vote and may be
178 described as such in any document. Unless the articles of incorporation, bylaws or a resolution
179 of the board of directors provides for a reasonable delay to permit tabulation of written consents,
180 the action taken by written consent shall be effective when written consents signed by
181 shareholders owning a sufficient number of shares required to authorize or take the action are
182 delivered to the corporation.

183 (5) In the event that the action to which the shareholders consent is such as would have
184 required the filing of a certificate under any other section of this act if such action had been voted
185 on by shareholders at a meeting thereof, the certificate filed under such other section shall state
186 that written consent has been given in accordance with the provisions of this section.

187 (6) Whenever action is taken pursuant to this section, the written consent of the
188 shareholders consenting thereto or the written reports of inspectors appointed to tabulate such
189 consents shall be filed with the minutes of proceedings of shareholders.

190 (7) The notice requirements in subsection (3) shall not delay the effectiveness of actions
191 taken by written consent, and a failure to comply with such notice requirement shall not
192 invalidate actions taken by written consent, provided that this subsection shall not be deemed to
193 limit judicial power to fashion any appropriate remedy in favor of a shareholder adversely
194 affected by a failure to give such notice within the required time period.

195 **Commentary:**

196 1. Subsection (4) of Section 607.0704 has been modified to add the RMBCA language in
197 Section 7.04(d) addressing an ability to delay effectiveness of a written consent for a reasonable
198 period of time to permit tabulation of the written consents received. A parallel change was also
199 made in subsection (3) requiring notice of an action taken by written consent to non-consenting

200 shareholders within ten days after authorization of the action. The Subcommittee decided not to
201 include any specific outside time limit on the time to tabulate written consents, relying instead on
202 the ability of practitioners (and ultimately the courts) to determine what is “reasonable.”
203 However, it is important to remember that this provision is only intended to give the corporation
204 a reasonable (likely short) period of time to tabulate written consents received and is not
205 intended to allow a corporation to inappropriately delay effecting an action taken by the
206 corporation's shareholders by written consent.

207 2. The language in RMBCA Section 7.04(g) was added as new subsection 607.0704(7)
208 (expressing that the failure to give the required notice does not delay the effectiveness of the
209 action taken or invalidate the action taken, subject to the right of a court to fashion an appropriate
210 remedy for failure to give such notice). It is believed that this new language merely codifies the
211 existing state of court decisions relative to this issue.

212

213

214 607.0705 Notice of meeting.—

215 (1) A corporation shall notify shareholders of the date, time, and place of each annual and
216 special shareholders’ meeting no fewer than 10 or more than 60 days before the meeting date.
217 The notice shall include the record date for determining the shareholders entitled to vote at the
218 meeting, if such date is different than the record date for determining shareholders entitled to
219 notice of the meeting. If the board of directors has authorized participation by means of remote
220 communication pursuant to s. 607.0709 for any class or series of shareholders, the notice to such
221 class or series of shareholders shall describe the means of remote communication to be used.
222 Unless this act or the articles of incorporation require otherwise, the corporation is required to
223 give notice only to shareholders entitled to vote at the meeting as of the record date for
224 determining the shareholders entitled to notice of the meeting. Notice shall be given in the
225 manner provided in s. 607.0141, by or at the direction of the president, the secretary, or the
226 officer or persons calling the meeting. If the notice is mailed at least 30 days before the date of
227 the meeting, it may be done by a class of United States mail other than first class.
228 Notwithstanding s. 607.0141, if mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when
229 deposited in the United States mail addressed to the shareholder at her or his address as it
230 appears in the record of shareholders of the corporation (maintained in accordance with s.
231 607.1601(3) on the stock transfer books of the corporation, with postage thereon prepaid.

232 (2) Unless this act or the articles of incorporation require otherwise, notice of an annual
233 meeting need not include a description of the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is
234 called.

235 (3) Notice of a special meeting must include a description of the purpose or purposes for
236 which the meeting is called.

237 (4) Unless the bylaws require otherwise, if an annual or special shareholders' meeting is
238 adjourned to a different date, time, or place, or to add or modify the terms of participation by
239 remote communication, notice need not be given of the new date, time, ~~or~~ place or terms of
240 participation by remote communication if the new date, time, ~~or~~ place or terms of participation
241 by remote communication is announced at the meeting before an adjournment is taken, and any
242 business may be transacted at the adjourned meeting that might have been transacted on the
243 original date of the meeting. If a new record date for the adjourned meeting is or must be fixed
244 under s. 607.0707, however, notice of the adjourned meeting must be given under this section to
245 persons who are shareholders as of the new record date who are entitled to notice of the meeting.

246 (5) Notwithstanding the foregoing, whenever notice is required to be given to any
247 shareholder under any provision of this act or the articles of incorporation or bylaws of any
248 corporation to whom no notice of a shareholders' meeting need be given to a shareholder if:

249 (a) Notice of two consecutive annual meetings, and all notices of meetings or the taking of
250 action by written consent without a meeting to such person during the period between such two
251 consecutive annual meetings, An annual report and proxy statements for two consecutive annual
252 meetings of shareholders or

253 (b) All, and at least two, ~~checks in~~ payments of dividends or interest on securities during a
254 12-month period,

255 have been sent by first-class United States mail, addressed to the shareholder at ~~her or his~~ such
256 person's address as it appears in the record of shareholders on the share transfer books of the
257 corporation (maintained in accordance with s. 607.1601(3)), and returned undeliverable, then the
258 giving of such notice to such person shall not be required. Any action or meeting which shall be
259 taken or held without notice to such person shall have the same force and effect as if such notice
260 has been duly given. The obligation of the corporation to give notice of a shareholders' meeting
261 to any such shareholder shall be reinstated once the corporation has received a new address for
262 such shareholder for entry on its share transfer books. If any such person shall deliver to the
263 corporation a written notice setting forth such person's then current address, the requirement that
264 a notice be given to such person with respect to future notices shall be reinstated.

265 **Commentary:**

266 1. Language was added to subsection (1), with a cross reference to Section 607.0709 which
267 now contains all of the provisions regarding attendance at shareholders' meetings, whether the
268 meeting is an annual meeting or a special meeting, using remote communications, to the effect
269 that if the board of directors has agreed to allow participation by remote communication at a

270 shareholders' meeting, the notice shall be required to describe the means of remote
271 communication to be used.

272 2. Language has been added to subsection (4) to address the obligation to communicate the
273 terms of remote communication for the continuation of an adjourned meeting.

274 3. Section 607.0705(1) should be read as requiring that any notice given with respect to an
275 adjourned meeting must include a description of the methods of participation by remote
276 communication if the board has authorized participation in the meeting by remote
277 communication.

278 4. The language in subsection (5), which authorizes the corporation not to have to give notice
279 to certain missing stockholders under certain circumstances, is proposed to be modified to follow
280 the language used in the current version of DGCL Section 230 (upon which this FBCA provision
281 was originally based).

282

283

284 607.0706 Waiver of notice.—

285 (1) A shareholder may waive any notice required by this act, the articles of incorporation,
286 or bylaws before or after the date and time stated in the notice. The waiver must be in writing, be
287 signed by the shareholder entitled to the notice, and be delivered to the corporation for inclusion
288 in the minutes or filing with the corporate records. Neither the business to be transacted at nor
289 the purpose of any regular or special meeting of the shareholders need be specified in any written
290 waiver of notice unless so required by the articles of incorporation or the bylaws.

291 (2) A shareholder's attendance at a meeting:

292 (a) Waives objection to lack of notice or defective notice of the meeting, unless the
293 shareholder at the beginning of the meeting objects to holding the meeting or transacting
294 business at the meeting; or

295 (b) Waives objection to consideration of a particular matter at the meeting that is not within
296 the purpose or purposes described in the meeting notice, unless the shareholder objects to
297 considering the matter when it is presented.

298 **Commentary:**

299 1. The language at the end of subsection (1), which confirms that the purpose of the meeting
300 need not be included in the waiver of notice in order for the waiver of notice to be valid, was
301 retained despite such language not appearing in the RMBCA. The language is in Section 229 of
302 the DGCL.

303

304

305 607.0707 Record date.—

306 (1) The bylaws may fix or provide the manner of fixing the record date or dates for one or
307 more voting groups in order to determine the shareholders entitled to notice of a shareholders'
308 meeting, to demand a special meeting, to vote, or to take any other action. If the bylaws do not
309 fix or provide for fixing such a record date, the board of directors of the corporation may fix the
310 record date. In no event may a record date fixed by the board of directors be a date preceding the
311 date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted.

312 (2) If not otherwise provided by or pursuant to the bylaws, the record date for determining
313 shareholders entitled to demand a special meeting is the date the first shareholder delivers his or
314 her demand to the corporation.

315 (3) The bylaws may fix or provide the manner of fixing the record date for determining
316 shareholders entitled to take action by the written consent of shareholders. If not otherwise
317 provided by or pursuant to the bylaws, the board of directors of the corporation may set a record
318 date for determining shareholders entitled to take action by the written consent of shareholders.
319 In no event may a record date fixed by the board of directors be a date preceding the date upon
320 which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted. If the bylaws do not fix or provide for the
321 manner of fixing such a record date and if no such record date is fixed by the board of directors,
322 the record date for determining shareholders entitled to take such action shall be ~~If not otherwise~~
323 ~~provided by or pursuant to the bylaws and no prior action is required by the board of directors~~
324 ~~pursuant to this act, the record date for determining shareholders entitled to take action without a~~
325 ~~meeting is the date~~ that the first signed written consent is delivered to the corporation under s.
326 607.0704. ~~If not otherwise fixed, and prior action is required by the board of directors pursuant~~
327 ~~to this chapter, the record date for determining shareholders entitled to take action without a~~
328 ~~meeting is at the close of business on the day on which the board of directors adopts the~~
329 ~~resolution taking such prior action.~~

330 (4) If not otherwise provided by or pursuant to the bylaws, or by a court order pursuant to s.
331 607.0703, the record date for determining shareholders entitled to notice of and to vote at an
332 annual or special shareholders' meeting is the close of business on the day before the first notice
333 is delivered to shareholders.

334 (5) A record date for purposes of this section may not be more than 70 days before the
335 meeting or action requiring a determination of shareholders.

336 (6) A determination of shareholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a shareholders'
337 meeting is effective for any adjournment of the meeting unless the board of directors fixes a new

338 record date or dates, which it must do if the meeting is adjourned to a date more than 120 days
339 after the date fixed for the original meeting.

340 (7) If a court orders a meeting adjourned to a date more than 120 days after the date fixed
341 for the original meeting, it may provide that the original record date or dates continues in effect
342 or it may fix a new record date or dates.

343 (8) The record date for a shareholders' meeting fixed by or in the manner provided in the
344 bylaws or by the board of directors shall be the record date for determining shareholders entitled
345 both to notice, of and to vote at, the shareholders' meeting, unless in the case of a record date
346 fixed by the board of directors and to the extent not prohibited by the bylaws, the board, at the
347 time it fixes the record date for shareholders entitled to notice of the meeting, fixes a later record
348 date on or before the date of the meeting to determine the shareholders entitled to vote at the
349 meeting.

350 (9) Shares of a corporation's own stock acquired by the corporation between the record
351 date for determining shareholders entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of shareholders and
352 the time of the meeting may be voted at the meeting by the holder of record as of the record date
353 and shall be counted in determining the total number of outstanding shares entitled to be voted at
354 the meeting.

355 Commentary:

356 1. The bifurcated record date provisions that have been added to this section (and to
357 corresponding places in other Article 7 sections) are designed to provide corporations, if the
358 directors so choose, with greater flexibility to align shareholder ownership and voting by setting
359 a record date for voting closer to the meeting date. Delaware enacted similar provisions in 2009,
360 and those provisions are contained in Section 213 of the DGCL. The Model Act commentators
361 noted that, although the corporate law would provide this flexibility, public corporations would
362 need to consider the SEC's proxy rules and the practicalities of proxy voting and vote counting
363 mechanisms in using this flexibility.

364 2. The option to establish bi-furcated record dates is not limited to public companies. However,
365 it is most likely to be utilized primarily in public company situations.

366 3. The proposed changes in subsection (3): (i) are based in part on Section 213(b) of the
367 DGCL, (ii) make clear that the board may set a record date for determining shareholders entitled
368 to take action by written consent of shareholders, and (iii) set a default rule for determining the
369 record date if the board doesn't set a specific record date. However, the language for the bylaws
370 override for fixing or establishing the method for fixing such record date has been changed to
371 parallel the syntax appearing in the lead-in to subsection (2). Further, the last sentence of
372 subsection (1) has also been added to subsection (3).

373 4. The "unless" language contained in new subsection (8), which is based on Section 7.07(e) of
374 the RMBCA, is meant only to refer to bi-furcated record dates.

375 5. New subsection (9) has been added to resolve an inconsistency between Section
376 607.0707(1), which states that shareholders of record on the record date are to receive notice of
377 and are authorized to vote at a shareholders' meeting, and Section 607.0631, which provides that
378 shares acquired by a corporation shall become, when acquired by the corporation, authorized but
379 not issued and outstanding shares of the corporation (or authorized and issued but not
380 outstanding, treasury shares under the circumstances set forth in 607.0631(5)). Because of these
381 inconsistent positions, a Florida corporation might be reluctant to reacquire its shares between
382 the record date and a meeting date because of the uncertainty as to how to deal with voting of
383 those shares given the fact that under Section 607.0631(1) these shares would not be outstanding
384 on the meeting date, even though they were issued and outstanding on the record date. This
385 provision is based on a similar provision contained in Maryland's corporate statute.

386

387

388 607.0708. Conduct of the Meeting.—

389 Section 7.08 of the RMBCA, which creates default rules regarding the conduct of
390 shareholders' meetings, has not been added to the proposal. It is believed that remedies already
391 exist for dealing with manipulations of the shareholder voting machinery and that adding this
392 section to the FBCA is therefore unnecessary.

393 However, the poll closing provision that is contained in Section 7.08 of the RMBCA has
394 been added to Section 607.0729(6).

395

396

397 607.0709. Remote Participation in Annual and Special Meetings.—

398 (1) Shareholders of any voting group, other persons entitled to vote on behalf of
399 shareholders pursuant to s. 607.0721, attorneys in fact for shareholders and holders of proxies
400 appointed pursuant to s. 607.0722, may participate in any annual or special meeting of
401 shareholders by means of remote communication to the extent the board of directors authorizes
402 such participation for such voting group. Participation by means of remote communication shall
403 be subject to such guidelines and procedures as the board of directors adopts, and shall be in
404 conformity with subsection (2).

405 (2) Shareholders, other persons entitled to vote on behalf of shareholders pursuant to s.
406 607.0721, attorneys in fact for shareholders and holders of proxies appointed pursuant to s.

407 607.0722, participating in a shareholders' meeting by means of remote communication
408 authorized in conformity with subsection (1) shall be deemed present in person and may vote at
409 such a meeting, whether such meeting is to be held at a designated place or solely by means of
410 remote communication, if the corporation has implemented reasonable measures:

411 _____ (a) to verify that each person participating remotely is a shareholder, other person entitled
412 to vote on behalf of a shareholder pursuant to s. 607.0721, an attorney in fact for a shareholder or
413 a holder of a proxy appointed pursuant to s. 607.0722, and

414 _____ (b) to provide such shareholders, such other persons entitled to vote on behalf of
415 shareholders pursuant to s. 607.0721, such attorneys in fact for shareholders and such holders of
416 proxies appointed pursuant to s. 607.0722, a reasonable opportunity to participate in the meeting
417 and to vote on matters submitted to the shareholders, including, without limitation, an
418 opportunity to communicate, and to read or hear the proceedings of the meeting, substantially
419 concurrently with such proceedings.

420 _____ (3) If any shareholder, any other person entitled to vote on behalf of a shareholder pursuant
421 to s. 607.0721, any attorney in fact for a shareholder or any holder of a proxy appointed pursuant
422 to s. 607.0722, votes or takes action at a shareholder's meeting by means of remote
423 communication authorized in conformity with this section, a record of such vote or other action
424 shall be maintained by the corporation.

425 _____ (4) If the board of directors is authorized to determine the place of a shareholders' meeting,
426 the board of directors may, in its sole discretion, determine that the meeting shall be held solely
427 by means of remote communication.

428 **Commentary:**

429 1. This new Section 607.0709 replaces the language previously contained in Sections 607.0701
430 and 607.0702 regarding participation in a shareholders meeting by remote communication. The
431 language is based on RMBCA Section 7.09.

432 2. The language in subsection (1) that allows the corporation's board of directors to authorize
433 remote participation for less than all shareholders (selecting between classes and series that can
434 participate by remote participation) is based on subsection (1) of the RMBCA provision. It is
435 believed that the Board should have the flexibility to decide which classes or series of shares can
436 participate in a meeting by remote participation, and that any abuse by the board in
437 inappropriately using this provision should be able to be addressed by way of remedies available
438 to shareholders for breaches of fiduciary duties.

439 3. The term "voting groups" has been substituted for "classes and series" in subsection (1),
440 since it means the same thing.

441

442

443 607.0720 Shareholders' list for meeting.—

444 (1) After fixing a record date for a meeting, a corporation shall prepare an alphabetical list
445 of the names of all its shareholders who are entitled to notice of a shareholders' meeting,
446 ~~arranged by voting group with the address of, and the number and class and series, if any, of~~
447 ~~shares held by, each.~~ If the board of directors fixes a different record date under s. 607.0707(8)
448 to determine the shareholders entitled to vote at the meeting, the corporation shall also prepare an
449 alphabetical list of the names of all its shareholders who are entitled to vote at the meeting. Each
450 list must be arranged by voting group (and within each voting group by class or series of shares)
451 and show the address of and number of shares held by each shareholder.

452 (2) The shareholders' list for notice must be available for inspection by any shareholder for
453 a period of 10 days prior to the meeting or such shorter time as exists between the record date
454 and the meeting and continuing through the meeting at the corporation's principal office, at a
455 place identified in the meeting notice in the city where the meeting will be held, or at the office
456 of the corporation's transfer agent or registrar. Any separate shareholders' list for voting, if
457 different, must be similarly available for inspection promptly after the record date for voting. A
458 shareholder or the shareholder's agent or attorney is entitled on written demand to inspect and,
459 ~~the list~~ (subject to the requirements of s. 607.1602(3)), copy a list during regular business hours
460 and at his or her expense, during the period it is available for inspection.

461 (3) The corporation shall make the ~~shareholders'~~ list of shareholders entitled to vote
462 available at the meeting, and any shareholder or the shareholder's agent or attorney is entitled to
463 inspect the list at any time during the meeting or any adjournment.

464 (4) The shareholders' list is prima facie evidence of the identity of shareholders entitled to
465 examine the shareholders' list or to vote at a meeting of shareholders.

466 (5) If the requirements of this section have not been substantially complied with or if the
467 corporation refuses to allow a shareholder or the shareholder's agent or attorney to inspect ~~the~~
468 shareholders' list (or copy a list as permitted by subsection (2)) before or at the meeting, the
469 meeting shall be adjourned until such requirements are complied with on the demand of any
470 shareholder in person or by proxy who failed to get such access, or, if not adjourned upon such
471 demand and such requirements are not complied with, the circuit court of the county where a
472 corporation's principal office (or, if none in this state, its registered office) is located, on
473 application of the shareholder, may summarily order the inspection or copying at the
474 corporation's expense and may postpone the meeting for which the list was prepared until the
475 inspection or copying is complete.

476 (6) Refusal or failure to comply with the requirements of this section shall not affect the
477 validity of any action taken at such meeting.

478 (7) A shareholder may not sell or otherwise distribute any information or records inspected
479 under this section, except to the extent that such use is for a proper purpose as defined in s.
480 607.1602(3). ~~Any person who violates this provision shall be subject to a civil penalty of \$5,000.~~

481 **Commentary:**

482 1. Subsection (2) was modified to make clear that shareholders have an absolute right to
483 inspect the corporation's shareholders' list in connection with a meeting, but that the right to
484 obtain a copy of the shareholders' list is subject to the requirements of Section 607.1602
485 (requiring a demand made in good faith and with a proper purpose).

486 2. Language was added to subsection (2) to correspond with the addition of the possibility of a
487 bi-furcated record date. Such additional new language deals with the requirement to have a
488 separate list of those entitled to vote, in those cases where a bi-furcated record date has been
489 established.

490 3. Subsection (4), which subsection sets forth that the shareholder' list is prima facie evidence
491 as to the identity of shareholders entitled to examine the list or to vote at the meeting, was
492 retained, even though this subsection is not in the corresponding section of the RMBCA.

493 4. While it is not in the RMBCA, the language in subsection (7), which has been in the Florida
494 statute since 1994, was retained. However, the second sentence in subsection (7), which provides
495 that any person who violates this provision shall be subject to a civil penalty of \$5,000, was
496 removed. By removing this sentence, the penalty for improperly selling a shareholders' list is left
497 to the Courts to determine.

498

499

500 607.0721 Voting entitlement of shares.—

501 (1) Except as provided in subsections (2), (3), and (4) or unless the articles of incorporation
502 or this act provides otherwise, each outstanding share, regardless of class, is entitled to one vote
503 on each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of shareholders. Only shares are entitled to vote.
504 If the articles of incorporation provide for more or less than one vote for any share on any matter,
505 every reference in this act to a majority or other proportion of shares shall refer to such a
506 majority or other proportion of votes entitled to be cast.

507 (2) The shares of a corporation are not entitled to vote if they are owned, directly or
508 indirectly, by a second corporation, domestic or foreign, and the first corporation owns, directly
509 or indirectly, a majority of the shares entitled to vote for directors of the second corporation.

510 (3) Subsection (2) does not limit the power of a corporation to vote any shares, including its
511 own shares, held by it in a fiduciary capacity.

512 (4) Redeemable shares are not entitled to vote on any matter, and shall not be deemed to be
513 outstanding, after notice of redemption is mailed to the holders thereof and a sum sufficient to
514 redeem such shares has been deposited with a bank, trust company, or other financial institution
515 upon an irrevocable obligation to pay the holders the redemption price upon surrender of the
516 shares.

517 (5) Shares standing in the name of another corporation, domestic or foreign, may be voted
518 by such officer, agent, or proxy as the bylaws of the corporate shareholder may prescribe or, in
519 the absence of any applicable provision, by such person as the board of directors of the corporate
520 shareholder may designate. In the absence of any such designation or in case of conflicting
521 designation by the corporate shareholder, the chair of the board, the president, any vice president,
522 the secretary, and the treasurer of the corporate shareholder, in that order, shall be presumed to
523 be fully authorized to vote such shares.

524 (6) Shares held by an administrator, executor, guardian, personal representative, or
525 conservator may be voted by him or her, either in person or by proxy, without a transfer of such
526 shares into his or her name. Shares standing in the name of a trustee may be voted by him or her,
527 either in person or by proxy, but no trustee shall be entitled to vote shares held by him or her
528 without a transfer of such shares into his or her name or the name of his or her nominee.

529 (7) Shares held by or under the control of a receiver, a trustee in bankruptcy proceedings, or
530 an assignee for the benefit of creditors may be voted by him or her without the transfer thereof
531 into his or her name.

532 (8) If a share or shares stand of record in the names of two or more persons, whether
533 fiduciaries, members of a partnership, joint tenants, tenants in common, tenants by the entirety,
534 or otherwise, or if two or more persons have the same fiduciary relationship respecting the same
535 shares, unless the secretary of the corporation is given notice to the contrary and is furnished
536 with a copy of the instrument or order appointing them or creating the relationship wherein it is
537 so provided, then acts with respect to voting have the following effect:

538 (a) If only one votes, in person or by proxy, his or her act binds all;

539 (b) If more than one vote, in person or by proxy, the act of the majority so voting binds all;

540 (c) If more than one vote, in person or by proxy, but the vote is evenly split on any
541 particular matter, each faction is entitled to vote the share or shares in question proportionally;

542 (d) If the instrument or order so filed shows that any such tenancy is held in unequal
543 interest, a majority or a vote evenly split for purposes of this subsection shall be a majority or a
544 vote evenly split in interest;

545 (e) The principles of this subsection shall apply, insofar as possible, to execution of
546 proxies, waivers, consents, or objections and for the purpose of ascertaining the presence of a
547 quorum.

548 (9) Subject to s. 607.0723, nothing herein contained shall prevent trustees or other
549 fiduciaries holding shares registered in the name of a nominee from causing such shares to be
550 voted by such nominee as the trustee or other fiduciary may direct. Such nominee may vote
551 shares as directed by a trustee or other fiduciary without the necessity of transferring the shares
552 to the name of the trustee or other fiduciary.

553 **Commentary:**

554 No changes were made to this section of the FBCA. It was noted that subsections (5) – (9) are
555 not in the RMBCA. However, since these sections have been in the FBCA since 1989, they were
556 retained.

557

558

559 607.0722 Proxies.—

560 (1) A shareholder, other person entitled to vote on behalf of a shareholder pursuant to s.
561 607.0721, or attorney in fact for a shareholder may vote the shareholder’s shares in person or by
562 proxy.

563 (2)(a) A shareholder, other person entitled to vote on behalf of a shareholder pursuant to
564 s. 607.0721, or attorney in fact for a shareholder may appoint a proxy to vote or otherwise act for
565 the shareholder by signing an appointment form or by electronic transmission. Any type of
566 electronic transmission appearing to have been, or containing or accompanied by such
567 information or obtained under such procedures to reasonably ensure that the electronic
568 transmission was, transmitted by such person is a sufficient appointment, subject to the
569 verification requested by the corporation under s. 607.0724.

570 (b) Without limiting the manner in which a shareholder, other person entitled to vote on
571 behalf of a shareholder pursuant to s. 607.0721, or attorney in fact for a shareholder may appoint
572 a proxy to vote or otherwise act for the shareholder pursuant to paragraph (a), a shareholder,
573 other person entitled to vote on behalf of a shareholder pursuant to s. 607.0721, or attorney in
574 fact for a shareholder may make such an appointment by:

575 1. Signing an appointment form, with the signature affixed, by any reasonable means
576 including, but not limited to, facsimile or electronic signature.

577 2. Transmitting or authorizing the transmission of an electronic transmission to the person
578 who will be appointed as the proxy or to a proxy solicitation firm, proxy support service

579 organization, registrar, or agent authorized by the person who will be designated as the proxy to
580 receive such transmission. However, any electronic transmission must set forth or be submitted
581 with information from which it can be determined that the electronic transmission was
582 authorized by the shareholder, other person entitled to vote on behalf of a shareholder pursuant to
583 s. 607.0721, or attorney in fact for a shareholder. If it is determined that the electronic
584 transmission is valid, the inspectors of election or, if there are no inspectors, such other persons
585 making that determination shall specify the information upon which they relied.

586 (3) An appointment of a proxy is effective when a signed appointment form or an electronic
587 transmission of the appointment is received by the inspector of election or by the secretary or
588 other officer or agent authorized to count ~~tabulate~~ votes. An appointment is valid for the term ~~up~~
589 to 11 months unless a longer period is expressly provided in the appointment form and, if no
590 term is provided, is valid for 11 months unless the appointment is irrevocable under subsection
591 (5).

592 (4) The death or incapacity of the shareholder appointing a proxy does not affect the right
593 of the corporation to accept the proxy's authority unless notice of the death or incapacity is
594 received by the secretary or other officer or agent authorized to tabulate votes before the proxy
595 exercises his or her authority under the appointment.

596 (5) An appointment of a proxy is revocable by the shareholder unless the appointment form
597 or electronic transmission conspicuously states that it is irrevocable and the appointment is
598 coupled with an interest. Appointments coupled with an interest include the appointment of:

599 (a) A pledgee;

600 (b) A person who purchased or agreed to purchase the shares;

601 (c) A creditor of the corporation who extended credit to the corporation under terms
602 requiring the appointment;

603 (d) An employee of the corporation whose employment contract requires the appointment;
604 or

605 (e) A party to a voting agreement created under s. 607.0731.

606 (6) An appointment made irrevocable under subsection (5) becomes revocable when the
607 interest with which it is coupled is extinguished.

608 (7) Unless it otherwise provides, an appointment made irrevocable under subsection (5)
609 continues in effect after a transfer of the shares and a transferee takes subject to the appointment,
610 except that a transferee for value of shares subject to an irrevocable appointment may revoke
611 the appointment if the transferee did not know of its existence when he or she acquired the shares

612 and the existence of the irrevocable appointment was not noted conspicuously on the certificate
613 representing the shares or on the information statement for shares without certificates.

614 (8) Subject to s. 607.0724 and to any express limitation on the proxy's authority appearing
615 on the face of the appointment form or in the electronic transmission, a corporation is entitled to
616 accept the proxy's vote or other action as that of the shareholder making the appointment.

617 (9) If an appointment form expressly provides, any proxy holder may appoint, in writing, a
618 substitute to act in his or her place.

619 (10) Any copy, facsimile transmission, or other reliable reproduction of the writing or
620 electronic transmission created under subsection (2) may be substituted or used in lieu of the
621 original writing or electronic transmission for any purpose for which the original writing or
622 electronic transmission could be used if the copy, facsimile transmission, or other reproduction is
623 a complete reproduction of the entire original writing or electronic transmission.

624 (11) A corporation may adopt bylaws authorizing additional means or procedures for
625 shareholders to use in exercising rights granted by this section.

626 **Commentary:**

627 1. Changes to subsection (3) follow the recently adopted changes to Section 7.22(c) of the
628 RMBCA. The new language clarifies that a proxy is valid for the period specified in the
629 appointment form (which can be less than 11 months, 11 months or more than 11 months), and
630 that if no term is specified, the term would be defaulted to 11 months unless such appointment is
631 irrevocable under (5) (because it is coupled with an interest).

632 2. The language throughout this provision on "electronic transmission" will be finalized once
633 the subcommittee takes up generally the sections of the FBCA that deal with electronic
634 communications.

635 3. The additional language added to subsection (7) follows recently adopted changes to
636 Section 7.22 of the RMBCA. This language makes clear that unless the appointment otherwise
637 provides, an appointment made irrevocable under subsection (5) continues in effect after a
638 transfer of the shares and a transferee takes subject to the appointment, except if such transferee
639 is a transferee for value who did not know (or have reason to know from a notation on the
640 certificate or in a related information statement) that there was an irrevocable appointment
641 associated with such shares. This is not intended to be a substantive change from the existing
642 language.

643

644

645 607.0723 Shares held by intermediaries and nominees.—

646 (1) A corporation's board of directors may establish a procedure ~~under~~ by which a person
647 on whose behalf the beneficial owner of shares that are registered in the name of an intermediary
648 or a nominee may elect to be treated is recognized by the corporation as the record shareholder
649 by filing with the corporation a beneficial ownership certificate. The extent of this recognition
650 may be determined in the procedure terms, conditions, and limitations of this treatment shall be
651 specified in the procedure. To the extent such person is treated under such procedure as having
652 rights or privileges that the record shareholder otherwise would have, the record shareholder
653 shall not have those rights or privileges.

654 (2) The procedure shall specify ~~may set forth~~:

655 (a) The types of intermediaries or nominees to which it applies;

656 (b) The rights or privileges that the corporation recognizes in a person with respect to
657 whom a beneficial owner ownership certificate is filed;

658 (c) The manner in which the procedure is selected ~~by the nominee, which shall include that~~
659 the beneficial ownership certificate be signed or assented to by or on behalf of the record
660 shareholder and the person or persons on whose behalf the shares are held;

661 (d) The information that must be provided when the procedure is selected;

662 (e) The period for which selection of the procedure is effective; ~~and~~

663 (f) Requirements for notice to the corporation with respect to the arrangement; and

664 (g) the form and contents of the beneficial ownership certificate.

665 (3)(f) The procedure may specify any other aspects of the rights and duties created by
666 the filing of a beneficial ownership certificate.

667 **Commentary:**

668 1. The changes made in this section follow the recently adopted changes to Section 7.23 of the
669 RMBCA. The new language modernizes this provision of the FBCA to better deal with issues of
670 beneficial ownership of shares.

671

672

673 607.0724 ~~Corporation's~~ Acceptance of votes.—

674 (1) If the name signed on a vote, ballot, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment corresponds
675 to the name of a shareholder, the corporation if acting in good faith is entitled to accept the vote,
676 ballot, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment and give it effect as the act of the shareholder.

677 (2) If the name signed on a vote, ballot, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment does not
678 correspond to the name of its shareholder, the corporation if acting in good faith is nevertheless
679 entitled to accept the vote, ballot, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment and give it effect as the
680 act of the shareholder if:

681 (a) The shareholder is an entity and the name signed purports to be that of an officer or
682 agent of the entity;

683 (b) The name signed purports to be that of an administrator, executor, guardian, personal
684 representative, or conservator representing the shareholder and, if the corporation requests,
685 evidence of fiduciary status acceptable to the corporation has been presented with respect to the
686 vote, ballot, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment;

687 (c) The name signed purports to be that of a receiver, trustee in bankruptcy, or assignee for
688 the benefit of creditors of the shareholder and, if the corporation requests, evidence of this status
689 acceptable to the corporation has been presented with respect to the vote, ballot, consent, waiver,
690 or proxy appointment;

691 (d) The name signed purports to be that of a pledgee, beneficial owner, or attorney in fact
692 of the shareholder and, if the corporation requests, evidence acceptable to the corporation of the
693 signatory's authority to sign for the shareholder has been presented with respect to the vote,
694 ballot, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment; or

695 (e) Two or more persons are the shareholder as cotenants or fiduciaries and the name
696 signed purports to be the name of at least one of the coowners and the person signing appears to
697 be acting on behalf of all the coowners.

698 (3) The corporation is entitled to reject a vote, ballot, consent, waiver, or proxy
699 appointment if the ~~secretary or other officer or agent~~ person authorized to count ~~tabulate~~ votes,
700 acting in good faith, has reasonable basis for doubt about the validity of the signature on it or
701 about the signatory's authority to sign for the shareholder.

702 (4) ~~The corporation and its officer or agent who~~ Neither the corporation nor the person
703 authorized to count votes, including an inspector of election under s. 607.0729, that accepts or
704 rejects a vote, ballot, consent, waiver, or proxy appointment in good faith and in accordance with
705 the standards of this section ~~are not~~ is liable in damages to the shareholder for the consequences
706 of the acceptance or rejection.

707 (5) Corporate action based on the acceptance or rejection of a vote, ballot, consent, waiver,
708 or proxy appointment under this section is valid unless a court of competent jurisdiction
709 determines otherwise.

710 (6) If an inspector of election has been appointed under s. 607.0729, the inspector of
711 election also has the authority to request information and make determinations under subsections

712 (1), (2), and (3). Any determination made by the inspector of election under those subsections is
713 controlling.

714 **Commentary:**

715 1. The clarifying changes to Section 7.24 of the RMBCA that were recently adopted, including
716 references to “ballot” and language designed to coordinate with the inspector of election
717 provisions in Section 7.29, have been added to this section of the FBCA.

718

719

720 607.0725 Quorum and voting requirements for voting groups.—

721 (1) Shares entitled to vote as a separate voting group may take action on a matter at a
722 meeting only if a quorum of those shares exists with respect to that matter. Unless the articles of
723 incorporation or this act provides otherwise, a majority of the votes entitled to be cast on the
724 matter by the voting group constitutes a quorum of that voting group for action on that matter.

725 (2) Once a share is represented for any purpose at a meeting, it is deemed present for
726 quorum purposes for the remainder of the meeting and for any adjournment of that meeting
727 unless a new record date is or must be set for that adjourned meeting.

728 (3) If a quorum exists, action on a matter (other than the election of directors) by a voting
729 group is approved if the votes cast within the voting group favoring the action exceed the votes
730 cast opposing the action, unless the articles of incorporation or this act requires a greater number
731 of affirmative votes.

732 (4) The holders of a majority of the shares represented, and who would be entitled to vote
733 at a meeting if a quorum were present, where a quorum is not present, may adjourn such meeting
734 from time to time.

735 (5) The articles of incorporation may provide for a greater voting requirement or a greater
736 or lesser quorum requirement for shareholders, or voting groups of shareholders, than is provided
737 by this act, but in no event shall a quorum consist of less than one-third of the shares entitled to
738 vote.

739 (6) An amendment to the articles of incorporation that adds, changes, or deletes a greater or
740 lesser quorum or voting requirement shall meet the same quorum requirement and be adopted by
741 the same vote and voting groups required to take action under the quorum and voting
742 requirements then in effect or proposed to be adopted, whichever is greater.

743 (7) The election of directors is governed by s. 607.0728.

744 (8) Whenever a provision of this act provides for voting of classes or series as separate
745 voting groups, the rules provided in s. 607.1004(3) for amendments of articles of incorporation
746 apply to that provision.

747 **Commentary:**

748 The following was discussed with respect to Section 607.0725:

749 1. The language in subsection (4) of Section 607.0725 (dealing with the ability of the holders
750 of a majority of the shares in attendance at a meeting for which a quorum is not present to
751 adjourn the meeting), which has been in the statute since 1989 but is not in the RMBCA, has
752 been retained.

753 2. The issue of whether subsection (5), which deals with quorum requirements, is consistent
754 with Section 607.1021 (dealing with the adoption of bylaws increasing quorum and addressing
755 voting requirements for shareholders), has been deferred until the subcommittee considers
756 Section 607.1021.

757 3. Subsection (f) of RMBCA Section 7.25 has been added as new subsection (8). It states;
758 "Whenever a provision of this act provides for voting of classes or series as separate voting
759 groups, the rules provided in Section 607.1004(3) for amendments of articles of incorporation
760 apply to that provision." It is unclear why the junction box with respect to this issue is placed in
761 607.1004 rather than in this provision. This question has been deferred until the subcommittee
762 considers Section 607.1004.

763 4. Practitioners are reminded that the best way to avoid the possibility that a separate vote of
764 each voting group will be required under particular circumstances is to expressly and clearly
765 state in the corporation's articles of incorporation that all shares will vote together as a single
766 voting group on such matters.

767

768

769 607.0726 Action by single and multiple voting groups.—

770 (1) If the articles of incorporation or this act provides for voting by a single voting group on
771 a matter, action on that matter is taken when voted upon by that voting group as provided in s.
772 607.0725.

773 (2) If the articles of incorporation or this act provides for voting by two or more voting
774 groups on a matter, action on that matter is taken only when voted upon by each of those voting
775 groups counted separately as provided in s. 607.0725. Action may be taken by one voting group
776 on a matter even though no action is taken by another voting group entitled to vote on the matter.

777 **Commentary:**

778 This section of the FBCA follows the current version of the corresponding section of the
779 RMBCA. No changes have been made.

780

781

782 607.0728 Voting for directors; cumulative voting.—

783 (1) Unless otherwise provided in the articles of incorporation, or in a bylaw that fixes a
784 greater voting requirement for the election of directors and that is adopted by the board of
785 directors or shareholders of a corporation having shares listed on a national securities exchange
786 at the time of adoption, directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast by the shares entitled
787 to vote in the election at a meeting at which a quorum is present. A bylaw provision or
788 amendment adopted by shareholders which specifies the votes necessary for the election of
789 directors may not be further amended or repealed by the board of directors.

790 (2) Each shareholder who is entitled to vote at an election of directors has the right to vote
791 the number of shares owned by him or her for as many persons as there are directors to be
792 elected and for whose election the shareholder has a right to vote. Shareholders do not have a
793 right to cumulate their votes for directors unless the articles of incorporation so provide.

794 (3) A statement included in the articles of incorporation that “all or a designated voting
795 group of shareholders are entitled to cumulate their votes for directors,” or words of similar
796 import, means that the shareholders designated are entitled to multiply the number of votes they
797 are entitled to cast by the number of directors for whom they are entitled to vote and cast the
798 product for a single candidate or distribute the product among two or more candidates.

799 **Commentary:**

800 1. The language in the first sentence of subsection (2) is not included in RMBCA Section
801 7.28(b). However, this language is believed to be the general rule with respect to shares entitled
802 to vote for the election of directors, and therefore the language has been retained.

803 2. The language in Section 7.28(d) of the RMBCA dealing with the rules for cumulative voting
804 was determined not to be necessary and was not included in this section of the statute.

805 3. The subcommittee discussed the language that was added to the Florida statute in 2009,
806 which language allows directors of a public company (a company with shares listed on a national
807 securities exchange at the time of adoption) to amend the corporation's bylaws to fix a greater
808 voting requirement for the election of directors, without requiring action by the shareholders.
809 There was some concern expressed that this added language could be viewed as in conflict with
810 the language in Section 607.1021 (although it was agreed that the drafters of the 2009 change did

811 not intend for Section 607.1021 to override the authority granted to directors to act alone to fix
812 the greater voting requirement). It was suggested that a cross reference be added to Section
813 607.1021 so as to eliminate any potential for conflict and make it clear that the 2009 change to
814 Section 607.0728 constitutes an exception to the more general rule in Section 607.1021 that
815 shareholders must vote to amend bylaws to fix a greater voting requirement. [Suggested
816 language to add to Section 607.1021 – "Except as otherwise provided in Section 607.0728(1), if
817 authorized....] There was no consensus on whether this additional cross reference override is
818 necessary or, even if so, whether this is the best language to use, and a decision on this issue was
819 deferred until the subcommittee takes up Section 607.1021.

820

821

822 607.0729. Voting Procedures; Inspectors of Election

823 (1) A [public corporation] shall, and any other corporation may, appoint one or more
824 inspectors to act at a meeting of shareholders in connection with determining voting results.
825 Each inspector will faithfully execute the duties of inspector with strict impartiality and
826 according to the best of the inspector's ability. An inspector may be an officer or employee of
827 the corporation. The inspectors may appoint or retain other persons to assist the inspectors in the
828 performance of the duties of inspector under subsection (2), and may rely on information
829 provided by such persons and other persons, including those appointed to count votes, unless the
830 inspectors believe reliance is unwarranted.

831 (2) The inspectors shall:

832 (a) ascertain the number of shares outstanding and the voting power of each;

833 (b) determine the shares represented at a meeting;

834 (c) determine the validity of proxy appointments and ballots;

835 (d) count the votes; and

836 (e) make a written report of the results.

837 (3) In performing their duties, the inspectors may examine (i) the proxy appointment forms
838 and any other information provided in accordance with s. 607.0722(2), (ii) any envelope or
839 related writing submitted with those appointment forms, (iii) any ballots, (iv) any evidence or
840 other information specified in s. 607.0724, and (v) the relevant books and records of the
841 corporation relating to its shareholders and their entitlement to vote, including any securities
842 position list provided by a depository clearing agency.

843 (4) The inspectors also may consider other information that they believe is relevant and
844 reliable for the purpose of performing any of the duties assigned to them pursuant to subsection
845 (2), including for the purpose of evaluating inconsistent, incomplete or erroneous information
846 and reconciling information submitted on behalf of banks, brokers, their nominees or similar
847 persons that indicates more votes being cast than a proxy is authorized by the record shareholder
848 to cast or more votes being cast than the record shareholder is entitled to cast. If the inspectors
849 consider other information allowed by this subsection, they shall, in their report under subsection
850 (2), specify the information considered by them, including the purpose or purposes for which the
851 information was considered, the person or persons from whom they obtained the information,
852 when the information was obtained, the means by which the information was obtained, and the
853 basis for the inspectors' belief that such information is relevant and reliable.

854 [(5) Determinations of law by the inspectors of election are subject to de novo review by a
855 court in a proceeding under s. 607.07291 or other judicial proceeding.]

856 (6) The chair of the meeting shall announce at the meeting when the polls close for each
857 matter voted upon. If no announcement is made, the polls shall be deemed to have closed upon
858 the final adjournment of the meeting. After the polls close, no ballots, proxies or votes nor any
859 revocations or changes thereto may be accepted.

860 **Commentary:**

861 1. This new section of the FBCA adopts the current version of Section 7.29 of the RMBCA
862 dealing with inspectors of election.

863 2. Section 7.29(a) of the RMBCA applies this provision to all public companies and to "any
864 other corporation" that appoints an inspector to act at a meeting of directors (compared to
865 Section 231 of the DGCL, which, in covering this subject, only applies it to public companies).
866 This proposal follows the approach taken on this issue in the RMBCA. However, the provision
867 has been changed to a requirement to faithfully execute the duties of an inspector with strict
868 impartiality rather than a provision that requires an inspector to "certify in writing" that they will
869 faithfully execute the duties of inspector with strict impartiality. While best practices might be to
870 arrange for a certification in writing, requiring a written certification was viewed as a potential
871 trap for companies who don't get it technically right, even though their inspectors appropriately
872 execute their duties.

873 3. There was a concern expressed about the cause of action implications of new Section
874 7.29(e), which provides that "determinations of law by the inspectors of election are subject to a
875 de novo review by a court in a proceeding " challenging the actions at the meeting, particularly if
876 the Drafting Subcommittee decides not to adopt RMBCA Section 7.29A dealing with "Judicial
877 Determination of Corporate Offices and Review of Elections and Shareholder Votes." After
878 discussion, the subcommittee deferred discussion on this subsection (e) until the subcommittee
879 reviews RMBCA Section 7.29A.

880 4. The subcommittee decided to defer discussion on the definition of "public corporation" for
881 purposes of this section pending receipt of the report from the task force of the ABA Corporate
882 Laws Committee that is studying all sections of the RMBCA with implications to public
883 companies.

884 5. New subsection (6) with respect to the closing of the polls on any a matter to be considered
885 at a shareholders meeting has been added. The language adopted was derived from Section
886 7.08(d) of the RMBCA and is consistent with a similar provision in Section 231 of the DGCL
887 (which DGCL Section deals generally with voting procedures and inspectors of election).
888

889

890 607.07291 Judicial Determination of Corporate Offices and Review of Elections and
891 Shareholder Votes —

892

893 Section 7.29A of the RMBCA establishes procedures for judicial resolution of certain
894 governance disputes involving corporations incorporated under or subject to provisions of [the
895 state's] corporate statute. There is currently no comparable provision in the FBCA.
896

896

897 It is believed that the matters dealt with in Section 7.29A are matters that Florida courts in
898 equity already have the power and authority to deal with (and have dealt with) under appropriate
899 circumstances. Therefore, this section of the RMBCA has not been added to the proposal.

900

901

902 607.0730 Voting trusts.—

903 (1) One or more shareholders may create a voting trust, conferring on a trustee the right to
904 vote or otherwise act for him or her or for them, by signing an agreement setting out the
905 provisions of the trust (which may include anything consistent with its purpose) and transferring
906 their shares to the trustee. When a voting trust agreement is signed, the trustee ~~must~~ ~~shall~~ prepare
907 a list of the names and addresses of all voting trust beneficial owners ~~of beneficial interests in the~~
908 ~~trust~~, together with the number and class of shares each transferred to the trust, and deliver
909 copies of the list and agreement to the corporation's principal office. After filing a copy of the
910 list and agreement in the corporation's principal office, such copy shall be open to inspection by
911 any shareholder of the corporation (subject to the requirements of s. 607.1602(3)) or any
912 beneficiary of the trust under the agreement during business hours.

913 (2) A voting trust becomes effective on the date the first shares subject to the trust are
914 registered in the trustee's name.

915

916 **Commentary:**

917 1. The language in the last sentence of subsection (1), dealing with the requirement that a copy
918 of the trust should be available to beneficial holders of an interest in the trust and, subject to the
919 requirements of Section 607.0602(3), to shareholders of the company, was retained.

920 2. Subsection (1) was revised to follow the newer language in RMBCA Section 7.30 ("must
921 prepare a list of the names and addresses of all voting trust beneficial owners" instead of "shall
922 prepare a list of the names and addresses of all owners of beneficial interests in the trust"). While
923 the language is believed to have the same meaning as in the current Florida statute, the RMBCA
924 language is clearer and is therefore recommended.

925 3. The language in the first sentence of section (c) of RMBCA Section 7.30, which provides
926 that the duration of a voting trust shall be as set forth in the voting trust agreement, has not been
927 added. The question of whether a voting trust without an expiration date can continue
928 indefinitely is left to the Courts to decide.

929 4. Since Florida has not included a limitation on the duration of a voting trust to ten years since
930 this statute was modified in 1998, the transition language contained in Section 7.30(c) of the
931 RMBCA was considered unnecessary and was not added to this section of the FBCA.

932

933

934 607.0731 ~~Shareholders'~~ Voting agreements.—

935 (1) Two or more shareholders may provide for the manner in which they will vote their
936 shares by signing an agreement for that purpose. A ~~shareholders' voting~~ agreement created under
937 this section is not subject to the provisions of s. 607.0730.

938 (2) A ~~shareholders' voting~~ agreement created under this section is specifically enforceable.

939 (3) [A transferee of shares in a corporation the shareholders of which have entered into an
940 agreement authorized by subsection (1) shall be bound by such agreement if the transferee takes
941 shares subject to such agreement with notice thereof. A transferee shall be deemed to have notice
942 of any such agreement or any ~~such~~ renewal thereof if the existence of such agreement ~~thereof~~ is
943 noted on the face or back of the certificate or certificates representing such shares or on the
944 information statement for such shares required by s. 607.0626(2).]

945 **Commentary:**

946 1. The name of this section is proposed to be changed to "Voting Agreements." This section
947 only deals with voting agreements and the current heading ("Shareholders' Agreements") is
948 misleading and creates confusion with Section 607.0732. A corresponding change is proposed to

949 the language in subsections (1) and (2) to change the words "shareholders' agreement" in each
950 subsection to the words "voting agreements."

951 2. The language in subsection (3), dealing with the issue of whether transferees take their
952 shares subject to a voting agreement, has been retained, even though this language is not in the
953 corresponding section of the RMBCA. There is a concern that taking this subsection out could
954 possibly be misconstrued by judges as a change in the law, when confronted with addressing
955 whether a holder in due course who is not aware of a voting agreement should take free of the
956 agreement. However, the language has been modernized.

957 3. Users of the statute are reminded that as a matter of good practice, legends with respect to
958 voting agreements placed on stock certificates should be carefully worded so that the legend not
959 only covers the particular agreement, but also all extensions, amendments or renewals of such
960 agreement.

961

962

963 607.0732 Shareholder agreements.—

964 (1) An agreement among the shareholders of a corporation ~~with 100 or fewer shareholders~~
965 ~~at the time of the agreement~~, that complies with this section, is effective among the shareholders
966 and the corporation, even though it is inconsistent with one or more other provisions of this
967 chapter, if it:

968 (a) Eliminates the board of directors or restricts the discretion or powers of the board of
969 directors;

970 (b) Governs the authorization or making of distributions whether or not in proportion to
971 ownership of shares, subject to the limitations in s. 607.06401;

972 (c) Establishes who shall be directors or officers of the corporation, or their terms of office
973 or manner of selection or removal;

974 (d) Governs, in general or in regard to specific matters, the exercise or division of voting
975 power by the shareholders and directors or by or among any of them, including use of weighted
976 voting rights or director proxies;

977 (e) Establishes the terms and conditions of any agreement for the transfer or use of property
978 or the provision of services between the corporation and any shareholder, director, officer, or
979 employee of the corporation or among any of them;

980 (f) Transfers to any shareholder or other person any authority to exercise the corporate
981 powers or to manage the business and affairs of the corporation, including the resolution of any
982 issue about which there exists a deadlock among directors or shareholders; ~~or~~

983 (g) Requires dissolution of the corporation at the request of one or more of the shareholders
984 or upon the occurrence of a specified event or contingency; or-

985 (h) Otherwise governs the exercise of the corporate powers or the management of the
986 business and affairs of the corporation or the relationship between the shareholders, the directors,
987 ~~and or~~ the corporation, or among any of them, and is not contrary to public policy. [For purposes
988 of this paragraph, agreements contrary to public policy include, but are not limited to,
989 agreements that reduce the duties of care and loyalty to the corporation as required by ss.
990 607.0830 and 607.0832, exculpate directors from liability that may be imposed under s.
991 607.0831, adversely affect shareholders' rights to bring derivative actions under s. 607.07401, or
992 abrogate appraisal-dissenters' rights under ss. 607.1301-607.1320.] [revisit when we get to
993 607.0830]

994 [what authorizes agreements where not all shareholders are parties and transfer restrictions and
995 buy sell provisions and standstills and the like?]

996 (2) An agreement authorized by this section shall be:

997 (a)1. Set forth in the articles of incorporation or bylaws and approved by all persons who
998 are shareholders at the time the agreement; or

999 2. Set forth in a written agreement that is signed by all persons who are shareholders at the
1000 time of the agreement and such written agreement is made known to the corporation; and-

1001 (b) Subject to termination or amendment only by all persons who are shareholders at the
1002 time of the termination or amendment, unless the agreement provides otherwise ~~with respect to~~
1003 ~~termination and with respect to amendments that do not change the designation, rights,~~
1004 ~~preferences, or limitations of any of the shares of a class or series.~~

1005 (3) The existence of an agreement authorized by this section shall be noted conspicuously
1006 on the front or back of each certificate for outstanding shares or on the information statement
1007 required by s. 607.0626(2). If at the time of the agreement the corporation has shares outstanding
1008 which are represented by certificates, the corporation shall recall such certificates and issue
1009 substitute certificates that comply with this subsection. The failure to note the existence of the
1010 agreement on the certificate or information statement shall not affect the validity of the
1011 agreement or any action taken pursuant to it. Any purchaser of shares who, at the time of
1012 purchase, did not have knowledge of the existence of the agreement shall be entitled to rescission
1013 of the purchase. A purchaser shall be deemed to have knowledge of the existence of the
1014 agreement if its existence is noted on the certificate or information statement for the shares in

1015 compliance with this subsection and, if the shares are not represented by a certificate, the
1016 information statement is delivered to the purchaser at or prior to the time of the purchase of the
1017 shares. An action to enforce the right of rescission authorized by this subsection must be
1018 commenced within the earlier of 90 days after discovery of the existence of the agreement or 2
1019 years after the time of purchase of the shares.

1020 (4) An agreement authorized by this section shall cease to be effective when shares of the
1021 corporation **[are listed on a national securities exchange or regularly quoted in a market**
1022 **maintained by one or more members of a national or affiliated securities association] [ALT:**
1023 **becomes a public corporation]**. If the agreement ceases to be effective for any reason, the board
1024 of directors may, if the agreement is contained or referred to in the corporation's articles of
1025 incorporation or bylaws, adopt an amendment to the articles of incorporation or bylaws, without
1026 shareholder action, to delete the agreement and any references to it.

1027 (5) An agreement authorized by this section that limits the discretion or powers of the board
1028 of directors shall relieve the directors of, and impose upon the person or persons in whom such
1029 discretion or powers are vested, liability for acts or omissions imposed by law on directors to the
1030 extent that the discretion or powers of the directors are limited by the agreement.

1031 (6) The existence or performance of an agreement authorized by this section shall not be a
1032 ground for imposing personal liability on any shareholder for the acts or debts of the corporation
1033 even if the agreement or its performance treats the corporation as if it were a partnership or
1034 results in failure to observe the corporate formalities otherwise applicable to the matters
1035 governed by the agreement.

1036 (7) Incorporators or subscribers for shares may act as shareholders with respect to an
1037 agreement authorized by this section if no shares have been issued when the agreement is made.

1038 (8) This section shall not apply to, limit or invalidate agreements that are otherwise valid or
1039 authorized without regard to this section, including without limitation shareholder agreements
1040 between or among some or all of the shareholders or agreement between or among the
1041 corporation and one or more shareholders.

1042 **Commentary:**

1043 1. Subsection (1) currently limits the use of this section to corporations that have 100 or fewer
1044 shareholders at the time of the agreement. The comparable RMBCA provision does not contain
1045 this limitation. This proposal removes the 100 or more shareholder limitation, which is not
1046 contained in the corresponding section of the RMBCA. The 100 or more shareholders limitation
1047 was an artificial limitation that was originally included in the statute with a view that traditional
1048 corporate norms should only be allowed to be changed in closely held entities. However, in an
1049 era of providing flexibility for corporations and other entities to agree upon how they will
1050 operate, this distinction may no longer make sense.

1051

1052 2. Discussion on subsection (4) has been deferred until the definition of what is a "public
1053 corporation" is taken up at a future date.

1054
1055 3. There was a discussion about whether to continue to include the language in the last
1056 sentence of subsection (h) in Section 607.0732, even though such language is not in the
1057 comparable RMBCA provision (Section 7.32 (a)(8)). This language (underlined below) provides
1058 as follows:

1059 "(h) Otherwise governs the exercise of the corporate
1060 powers or the management of the business and affairs of the
1061 corporation or the relationship between the shareholders, the
1062 directors, or the corporation, and is not contrary to public policy.
1063 For purposes of this paragraph, agreements contrary to public
1064 policy include, but are not limited to, agreements that reduce the
1065 duties of care and loyalty to the corporation as required by ss.
1066 607.0830 and 607.0832, exculpate directors from liability that may
1067 be imposed under s. 607.0831, adversely affect shareholders'
1068 rights to bring derivative actions under s. 607.07401, or abrogate
1069 dissenters' rights under ss. 607.1301-607.1320."

1070
1071 The members of the subcommittee in attendance at this meeting noted that this language
1072 essentially makes these provisions similar to non-waivable provisions under the limited
1073 liability company act. There was also a discussion about whether some of these
1074 provisions (such as the provision on appraisal rights), ought to be included on this list (if
1075 the decision is made to keep the list in this statute).

1076
1077 After discussion, the subcommittee decided to defer consideration of this provision until
1078 the subcommittee takes up Section 607.0830 (General Standards for Directors), but
1079 agreed that if the reference to 607.1301-607.1320 is left in the provision, the provision
1080 should be cleaned up to change the words "dissenters' rights" to "appraisal rights."

1081 4. Subsection (8) was added to make clear that shareholders' agreements which are not
1082 executed by all persons who are shareholders at the time the agreements are entered into may
1083 still be enforceable against the shareholders who are parties to such agreement and against the
1084 corporation under certain circumstances. This is in addition to the two sections of the FBCA that
1085 expressly permit enforcement of these types of agreements: (i) Sections 607.0731 (Voting
1086 Agreements) and (ii) Section 607.0627 (Restriction on Transfer of Shares and Other Securities).

1087
1088 The addition of subsection (8) with respect to shareholder agreements that do not cover the
1089 topics contained in Section 607.0731(1) is not considered a change in the law and reflects what is
1090 considered to be the current state of the common law on this issue. It is added to eliminate any
1091 ambiguity in that regard and to provide express supporting language.

1092

1093 [The language added to Section 607.0732(8) does not address whether the provisions of Section
1094 607.0732 are the exclusive method for reaching an agreement on the topics set forth in Section
1095 607.0732(1). That question is left to the determination of the Courts. Practitioners are cautioned
1096 that if they want certainty as to whether an agreement covering one or more of the topics
1097 contained in Section 607.0732(1) is enforceable, they should follow the requirements of Section
1098 607.0732.]

1099
1100 **[SUBSECTION 8 AND THE COMMENTARY TO BE DISCUSSED AT A FUTURE**
1101 **MEETING OF THE SUBCOMMITTEE].**

1102
1103
1104 ~~— 607.07401— Shareholders’ derivative actions.—~~

1105 ~~—(1) A person may not commence a proceeding in the right of a domestic or foreign~~
1106 ~~corporation unless the person was a shareholder of the corporation when the transaction~~
1107 ~~complained of occurred or unless the person became a shareholder through transfer by operation~~
1108 ~~of law from one who was a shareholder at that time.~~

1109 ~~—(2) A complaint in a proceeding brought in the right of a corporation must be verified and~~
1110 ~~allege with particularity the demand made to obtain action by the board of directors and that the~~
1111 ~~demand was refused or ignored by the board of directors for a period of at least 90 days from the~~
1112 ~~first demand unless, prior to the expiration of the 90 days, the person was notified in writing that~~
1113 ~~the corporation rejected the demand, or unless irreparable injury to the corporation would result~~
1114 ~~by waiting for the expiration of the 90-day period. If the corporation commences an investigation~~
1115 ~~of the charges made in the demand or complaint, the court may stay any proceeding until the~~
1116 ~~investigation is completed.~~

1117 ~~—(3) The court may dismiss a derivative proceeding if, on motion by the corporation, the~~
1118 ~~court finds that one of the groups specified below has made a determination in good faith after~~
1119 ~~conducting a reasonable investigation upon which its conclusions are based that the maintenance~~
1120 ~~of the derivative suit is not in the best interests of the corporation. The corporation shall have the~~
1121 ~~burden of proving the independence and good faith of the group making the determination and~~
1122 ~~the reasonableness of the investigation. The determination shall be made by:~~

1123 ~~—(a) A majority vote of independent directors present at a meeting of the board of directors,~~
1124 ~~if the independent directors constitute a quorum;~~

1125 ~~—(b) A majority vote of a committee consisting of two or more independent directors~~
1126 ~~appointed by a majority vote of independent directors present at a meeting of the board of~~
1127 ~~directors, whether or not such independent directors constitute a quorum; or~~

1128 ~~—(c) A panel of one or more independent persons appointed by the court upon motion by the~~
1129 ~~corporation.~~

1130 — (4) ~~A proceeding commenced under this section may not be discontinued or settled without~~
1131 ~~the court's approval. If the court determines that a proposed discontinuance or settlement will~~
1132 ~~substantially affect the interest of the corporation's shareholders or a class, series, or voting~~
1133 ~~group of shareholders, the court shall direct that notice be given to the shareholders affected. The~~
1134 ~~court may determine which party or parties to the proceeding shall bear the expense of giving the~~
1135 ~~notice.~~

1136 — (5) ~~On termination of the proceeding, the court may require the plaintiff to pay any~~
1137 ~~defendant's reasonable expenses, including reasonable attorney's fees, incurred in defending the~~
1138 ~~proceeding if it finds that the proceeding was commenced without reasonable cause.~~

1139 — (6) ~~The court may award reasonable expenses for maintaining the proceeding, including~~
1140 ~~reasonable attorney's fees, to a successful plaintiff or to the person commencing the proceeding~~
1141 ~~who receives any relief, whether by judgment, compromise, or settlement, and require that the~~
1142 ~~person account for the remainder of any proceeds to the corporation; however, this subsection~~
1143 ~~does not apply to any relief rendered for the benefit of injured shareholders only and limited to a~~
1144 ~~recovery of the loss or damage of the injured shareholders.~~

1145 — (7) ~~For purposes of this section, "shareholder" includes a beneficial owner whose shares are~~
1146 ~~held in a voting trust or held by a nominee on his or her behalf.~~

1147 **Commentary:**

1148 1. The FBCA includes all of the derivative action sections in a single statutory section. On the
1149 other hand, the RMBCA breaks this topic into multiple sections (Section 7.41-7.47). The
1150 revisions follow the approach of the RMBCA and thus break the derivative action provisions into
1151 multiple sections in a manner similar to the RMBCA.

1152 2. **[NOTE: THIS PROVISION WILL BE INCORPORATED INTO THE FORWARD**
1153 **OF THE COMMENTARY TO THE PROPOSED STATUTE]**

1154 Florida's corporate statute follows the RMBCA and its LLC and partnership statutes follow the
1155 Uniform Acts, and the RMBCA and the respective Uniform Acts often differ in procedure and
1156 substance for valid reasons. In many instances in the various Florida entity statutes, these
1157 differences have been respected, in whole or in part; yet in certain other instances where the
1158 same concept is addressed and where deemed appropriate, efforts have been made to harmonize
1159 the approach by using the same language with the same general structure. The process sections
1160 of the derivative action provisions of the FBCA are an example of provisions where this proposal
1161 seeks to harmonize the FBCA with the most recent uniform act adopted in Florida, the FRLICA.
1162 On the other hand, there are other sections within the FBCA derivative action provisions where,
1163 because of the different nature of the different types of entities, trying to achieve harmonization
1164 of language and approach could actually end up defeating the intended differences of the
1165 respective entities (for example, in Section 607.0742). In those cases, the language and structure

1166 were not harmonized, even though the subject matter of the provision was comparable. As a
1167 general matter, wherever possible, efforts were made to follow the model on which this proposed
1168 statute is based (the RMBCA) and not to stray from that model unless there was a compelling
1169 reason to do so.

1170

1171

1172 607.0741 Standing.—

1173 A shareholder may not commence or maintain a derivative proceeding unless the shareholder is a
1174 shareholder at the time the action is commenced and:

1175 (1) was a shareholder when the conduct giving rise to the action occurred; or

1176 (2) whose status as a shareholder devolved on the person through transfer or by operation
1177 of law from one who was a shareholder when the conduct giving rise to the action occurred.

1178 **Commentary:**

1179 1. Under proposed Section 607.07401(1), a person may not commence a derivative action
1180 proceeding unless the person was a shareholder of the corporation when the transaction
1181 complained of occurred or unless the person became a shareholder through transfer by operation
1182 of law from one who was a shareholder at that time. Section 7.41 of the RMBCA provides that a
1183 shareholder may not commence **or maintain** a derivative action proceeding unless the
1184 shareholder was a shareholder of the corporation at the time of the act or omission complained of
1185 or became a shareholder through transfer by operation of law from one who was a shareholder at
1186 that time. Section 7.41 also adds a requirement that "the shareholder must fairly and adequately
1187 represent the interests of the corporation in enforcing the rights of the corporation" to maintain a
1188 derivative action proceeding. Section 605.0803 of the FRLUCA is substantively similar to the
1189 current FBCA section regarding who is a proper plaintiff, except that it adds the requirement that
1190 the member must also be a member at the time the action is commenced.

1191 2. The revised standing provision does not add any specific language to the effect that a
1192 shareholder must remain a shareholder throughout the derivative action proceeding in order to
1193 continue to proceed with an otherwise properly brought derivative action. Imposing any such
1194 condition to continuing to maintain such an action should be based on the equities in each
1195 respective situation and thus should be left to the courts to decide. Further, the RMBCA concept
1196 contained in Section 7.41(b) requiring that the shareholder fairly and adequately represent the
1197 interests of the corporation in enforcing the rights of the corporation was not included in the
1198 proposal out of a concern that this additional standing requirement is an invitation to litigation
1199 that would be costly and would unduly delay the process, thus operating as an inappropriate

1200 hindrance to derivative actions. Any such determination should be based on the equities in each
1201 respective situation and thus should be left to the courts to decide.

1202

1203

1204 607.0742 Demand.—

1205 (1) No shareholder may commence a derivative proceeding until:

1206 (a) a written demand has been made upon the corporation to take suitable action; and

1207 (b) 90 days have expired from the date delivery of the demand was made unless the
1208 shareholder has earlier been notified that the demand has been rejected by the corporation or
1209 unless irreparable injury to the corporation would result by waiting for the expiration of the 90
1210 day period.

1211 [(2) The demand must set forth facts concerning share ownership and be sufficiently specific to
1212 appraise the corporation of the action sought to be taken and the grounds for that action.]

1213 **Commentary:**

1214 1. Under current Section 607.07401(2), a derivative proceeding cannot be brought unless the
1215 complainant alleges that demand was made to obtain action of the Board of Directors and the
1216 demand was refused or ignored by the Board of Directors for a period of at least 90 days from
1217 the first demand, unless irreparable injury to the corporation would result from waiting the 90
1218 days. The RMBCA continues to include a required universal demand before a derivative action
1219 may be brought.

1220 On the other hand, the FRLICA, in Section 605.0802(2) contemplates that if making a demand
1221 on the other members (in a member-managed LLC) or on the other managers (in a manager
1222 managed LLC) would be futile or would cause irreparable injury to the company, then such
1223 demand shall not be required in order to maintain a derivative proceeding against the LLC. This
1224 provision follows RULLCA on this issue. Further, while not in the DGCL, the case law that has
1225 developed in Delaware dealing with derivative actions excuses the requirement of making a
1226 demand based upon futility.

1227 Consideration was given to the following items:

1228 • the reasons why futility might or might not be an appropriate excuse to demand in
1229 the LLC context and in the corporate context;

- 1230 • the reasons why futility was not adopted in the FBCA when it was originally
1231 adopted in 1989 and why it has not been added to the FBCA as the Delaware law
1232 on the subject has continued to develop; and
- 1233 • whether because of acknowledged harmonization efforts to rationalize among
1234 entity statutes in Florida, either demand futility should be added to the FBCA or
1235 the FRLCA should be modified to remove demand futility.

1236 After taking an analysis of these items into account, the revised demand provision retains a
1237 universal demand requirement and does not add the concept of demand futility.

1238 [2. Subsection (3) is taken from the RMBCA commentary on this section and provide guidance
1239 on the required content of the demand.]

1240

1241

1242 607.0743 Stay of proceedings.

1243 If the corporation commences an inquiry into the allegations made in the demand or complaint,
1244 the court may stay any derivative proceeding for such period as the court deems appropriate.

1245 **Commentary:**

1246 The language is identical to the last sentence of subsection (2) of prior Section 607.07401.
1247

1248

1249 607.0744 Special litigation committee.—

1250 (1) If a corporation is named as or made a party in a derivative action, the corporation may
1251 appoint a special litigation committee to investigate the claims asserted in the derivative action
1252 and determine whether pursuing the action is in the best interest of the corporation. If the
1253 corporation appoints a special litigation committee, on motion, except for good cause shown, the
1254 court may stay any derivative action for the time reasonably necessary to permit the committee
1255 to make its investigation. This subsection does not prevent the court from:

1256 (a) enforcing a person’s rights under the corporation’s articles of incorporation, bylaws or
1257 this chapter, including the person’s rights to information under s. 607.1602; or

1258 (b) exercising its equitable or other powers, including granting extraordinary relief in the
1259 form of a temporary restraining order or preliminary injunction.

1260 (2) A special litigation committee must be composed of one or more disinterested and
1261 independent individuals, who may be shareholders.

1262 (3) A special litigation committee may be appointed:

1263 (a) by the consent of the shareholders who are not named as parties in the derivative action,
1264 who are otherwise disinterested and independent, and who hold a majority of the issued and
1265 outstanding shares owned by all of the shareholders of the corporation who are not named as
1266 parties in the derivative action and who are otherwise disinterested and independent;

1267 (b) by a majority of qualified directors present at a meeting of the board of directors if the
1268 qualified directors constitute a quorum;

1269 (c) by a majority vote of a committee consisting of two or more qualified directors
1270 appointed by majority vote of qualified directors present at a meeting of the board of directors,
1271 regardless of whether such qualified directors constitute a quorum; or

1272 (c) upon motion by the corporation, consisting of a panel of one or more disinterested and
1273 independent persons.

1274 (4) After appropriate investigation, a special litigation committee shall determine what
1275 action is in the best interest of the corporation, including continuing, dismissing, or settling the
1276 derivative action or taking another action that the special litigation committee deems appropriate.

1277 (5) After making a determination under subsection (4), a special litigation committee shall
1278 file or cause to be filed with the court a statement of its determination and its report supporting
1279 its determination and shall serve each party to the derivative action with a copy of the
1280 determination and report. Upon motion to enforce the determination of the special litigation
1281 committee, the court shall determine whether the members of the committee were disinterested
1282 and independent and whether the committee conducted its investigation and made its
1283 recommendation in good faith, independently, and with reasonable care, with the committee
1284 having the burden of proof. If the court finds that the members of the committee were
1285 disinterested and independent and that the committee acted in good faith, independently, and
1286 with reasonable care, the court may enforce the determination of the committee. Otherwise, the
1287 court shall dissolve any stay of derivative action entered under subsection (1) and allow the
1288 derivative action to continue under the control of the plaintiff.

1289 **Commentary:**

1290 1. Section 607.07401(3) currently states that a court may dismiss a derivative proceeding under
1291 certain circumstances. Similarly, Section 605.0804(5) of the FRLCA gives the court discretion
1292 to dismiss a derivative action based on the recommendation of a disinterested litigation
1293 committee in a situation where the committee is disinterested and independent and the committee
1294 has acted in good faith, independently and with reasonable care. Both of these provisions are

1295 different from the RMBCA, which requires a court to dismiss the derivative action on the
1296 recommendation of a disinterested special litigation committee (Section 7.44 – "A derivative
1297 proceeding shall be dismissed..." under certain enumerated circumstances). Given the
1298 complexities that may exist within derivative actions, and the multiplicity of issues, and to
1299 maintain consistency with the approach taken in both the current FBCA and in the recently-
1300 enacted FRLLLCA, maintaining court discretion with regard to a motion to dismiss is warranted.
1301 The use of the more discretionary term "may" does not preclude a court from granting a motion
1302 where it finds the report to be well-founded. See, e.g. *Atkins v. Topp Telecom, Inc.*, 874 So. 2d
1303 626 (4th DCA 2004). However, there often may be circumstances where a court should not be
1304 bound to accept or reject in toto the report of a special litigation committee, and Florida cases
1305 have not revealed any problem with the current standard that grants judicial discretion.

1306 2. Subsection (5) follows the approach of Section 607.07401(3) relative to this issue, utilizing
1307 the language used in Section 605.0804(5) of the FRLLLCA, and thus allowing a court to dismiss a
1308 derivative proceeding based on the recommendation of a disinterested special litigation
1309 committee, but not requiring such dismissal. Subsection (5), which is consistent with existing
1310 Section 607.07401(3), places on the committee (which is acting for the corporation) the burden
1311 to prove that the committee is independent and that the investigation was conducted in good faith
1312 and with reasonable care. In contrast, the RMBCA in subsection (c) and (d) of Section 7.44
1313 places on the shareholder bringing the derivative action the burden to prove the negative in those
1314 cases where the special litigation committee was composed of so-called qualified directors. [This
1315 shift in the burden was not considered to be appropriate in Florida, and there was no compelling
1316 reason to deviate from the approach taken in the FRLLLCA relative to the placement of the
1317 burden of proof]. Questions of independence (or qualification) and the nature of the investigation
1318 are much more within the capacity of the corporation to address. Consistent with the approach
1319 that is taken in the FRLLLCA, placing the burden of proving the negative on the shareholder
1320 bringing the derivative action was viewed an inappropriate burden on a shareholder's ability to
1321 pursue the action and therefore has not been reflected in this section.

1322 [Note: 3. A discussion was commenced relative to whether a special litigation committee
1323 should be obligated to file its report with the court (as required by Section 605.0804). The
1324 subcommittee will continue its discussion on this issue at a future meeting of the subcommittee.]

1325

1326

1327 607.0745. Dismissal or settlement; notice.—

1328 (1) A derivative action on behalf of a corporation may not be voluntarily dismissed or
1329 settled without the court's approval.

1330 (2) If the court determines that a proposed voluntary dismissal or settlement will
1331 substantially affect the interest of the corporation's shareholders or a class, series, or voting
1332 group of shareholders, the court shall direct that notice be given to the shareholders affected.
1333 The court may determine which party or parties to the derivative action shall bear the expense of
1334 giving the notice.

1335 **Commentary:**

1336 1. This provision is substantially the same as Section 607.07401(4). The language is modeled
1337 on the language in Section 605.0806 of the FRLCA and, except as noted below, is substantively
1338 similar to Section 7.45 of the RMBCA.

1339 2. The language in the last sentence of (2) which allows the court to determine which party or
1340 parties to the derivative action shall bear the expense of giving the notice is not in the
1341 corresponding RMBCA provision, but is in the current Florida statute, and has been carried
1342 forward.

1343

1344

1345 607.0746 Proceeds and expenses.—

1346 (1) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (2):

1347 (a) proceeds or other benefits of a derivative action under s. 607.0742, whether by
1348 judgment, compromise, or settlement, belong to the corporation and not to the plaintiff; and

1349 (b) if the plaintiff receives any proceeds, the plaintiff shall remit them immediately to the
1350 corporation.

1351 (2) If a derivative action under s. 607.0742 is successful in whole or in part, the court may
1352 award the plaintiff reasonable expenses, including reasonable attorney fees and costs, from the
1353 recovery of the corporation.

1354 **Commentary:**

1355 1. The current Florida derivative action statute on this subject includes the following language:

1356 (6) The court may award reasonable expenses for maintaining the proceeding,
1357 including reasonable attorney's fees, to a successful plaintiff or to the person commencing
1358 the proceeding who receives any relief, whether by judgment, compromise, or settlement,
1359 and require that the person account for the remainder of any proceeds to the corporation;
1360 however, this subsection does not apply to any relief rendered for the benefit of injured

1361 shareholders only and limited to a recovery of the loss or damage of the injured
1362 shareholders.

1363 The substance of Section 607.0746 as drafted is, for the most part, similar to the existing statute,
1364 but is different than RMBCA Section 7.46 (which states that any payment to plaintiff requires a
1365 "substantial benefit" to the corporation). "Substantial" is an ambiguous term and could well lead
1366 to extensive argumentation. Settlements of derivative actions often deal principally with
1367 procedural matters, and may involve only a small amount of monetary recovery and non-
1368 monetary elements. Defendants may argue that the term "substantial" precludes a plaintiff from
1369 recovering expenses in many instances. As a result, such arguments should be avoided and,
1370 instead, judicial discretion should be allowed.

1371 **(2) TO BE DISCUSSED:**

1372 (a) Florida's current provision requires only "any relief" as a basis for awarding expenses. In
1373 order to create a firmer standard yet still retain judicial discretion, it has been suggested that the
1374 Florida provision be modified to read "taking into account the benefit and the relief obtained on
1375 behalf of the corporation as a result of the proceeding."

1376 (b) The language in RMBCA Section 7.46(2) allowing the plaintiffs to pay the defendant's fees
1377 if the action was filed without reasonable cause or for an improper purpose was not added. If a
1378 proceeding is commenced in bad faith or for an improper purpose, courts already have the ability
1379 to deal with it.

1380 (c) Should we consider a prevailing party standard as an alternative?

1381

1382

1383

1384 607.0747 Applicability to foreign corporations.—

1385 In any derivative proceeding in the right of a foreign corporation brought in the courts of this
1386 state, the matters covered by this subchapter shall be governed by the laws of the jurisdiction of
1387 incorporation of the foreign corporation except for ss. 607.0743, 607.0744, 607.0745 and
1388 607.0746.

1389 **Commentary:**

1390 There is currently no analogous provision in the FBCA. The section carve outs relate to judicial
1391 discretionary decisions that are appropriately governed by Florida local standards and do not
1392 implicate the internal affairs doctrine.

1393

1394

1395 [607.0748 Shareholder action to appoint custodian or receiver.—

1396

1397 (1) A circuit court may appoint one or more persons to be custodians, or, if the corporation is
1398 insolvent, to be receivers, of and for a corporation in a proceeding by a shareholder where it is
1399 established that:

1400

1401 (a) the directors are deadlocked in the management of the corporate affairs, the
1402 shareholders are unable to break the deadlock, and irreparable injury to the corporation is
1403 threatened or being suffered; or

1404

1405 (b) the directors or those in control of the corporation are acting fraudulently and
1406 irreparable injury to the corporation is threatened or being suffered.

1407

1408 (2) The court

1409

1410 (a) may issue injunctions, appoint a temporary custodian or temporary receiver with
1411 all the powers and duties the court directs, take other action to preserve the corporate
1412 assets wherever located, and carry on the business of the corporation until a full hearing
1413 is held;

1414

1415 (b) shall hold a full hearing, after notifying all parties to the proceeding and any
1416 interested persons designated by the court, before appointing a custodian or receiver; and

1417

1418 (c) has jurisdiction over the corporation and all of its property, wherever located.

1419

1420 (3) The court may appoint an individual or domestic or foreign corporation (authorized to
1421 transact business in this state) as a custodian or receiver and may require the custodian or
1422 receiver to post bond, with or without sureties, in an amount the court directs.

1423

1424 (4) The court shall describe the powers and duties of the custodian or receiver in its appointing
1425 order, which may be amended from time to time. Among other powers,

1426

1427 (a) a custodian may exercise all of the powers of the corporation, through or in place of
1428 its board of directors, to the extent necessary to manage the business and affairs of the
1429 corporation; and

1430

1431 (b) a receiver (i) may dispose of all or any part of the assets of the corporation
1432 wherever located, at a public or private sale, if authorized by the court; and (ii) may sue
1433 and defend in the receiver's own name as receiver in all courts of this state.

1434

1435 (5) The court during a custodianship may redesignate the custodian a receiver, and during a
1436 receivership may redesignate the receiver a custodian, if doing so is in the best interests of the
1437 corporation.

1438
1439 (6) The court from time to time during the custodianship or receivership may order
1440 compensation paid and expense disbursements or reimbursements made to the custodian or
1441 receiver from the assets of the corporation or proceeds from the sale of its assets.]
1442

1443 **Commentary:**

1444 Proposed Section 607.0748 is based on Section 7.48 of the RMBCA. Section 607.0748 provides
1445 a basis for shareholders of any corporation to obtain the appointment of a receiver or custodian in
1446 two situations arising outside the context of seeking a judicial dissolution: (i) when directors are
1447 deadlocked in the management of the corporate affairs, the shareholders are unable to break the
1448 deadlock and irreparable injury to the corporation is threatened or is being suffered, or (ii) when
1449 the directors or those in control of the corporation are acting fraudulently and irreparable injury
1450 to the corporation is threatened or being suffered. This section is also designed to provide some
1451 additional guidance to the courts relative to the latitude of the court's authority to make such
1452 appointments in these situations. Without this section, the express statutory power and authority
1453 to appoint a receiver or custodian is only available ancillary to an action for judicial dissolution
1454 (although Florida courts, through common law equitable powers, may be able to fashion, and
1455 have from time to time fashioned, such a remedy under current law). The RMBCA provision
1456 upon which this proposal is based is itself based on Section 226 of the DGCL.

1457 The members of the Subcommittee decided, on a preliminary basis, to recommend the addition
1458 of this RMBCA section to the proposed draft of the FBCA. It was decided to add this section to
1459 the working draft of Article 7 in brackets, with a notation that adoption of this proposal is subject
1460 to the following qualifiers:

- 1461 • the Subcommittee leaders will bring this provision to the attention of those members of
1462 the Business Litigation Committee who are reviewing the litigation aspects of the
1463 Subcommittee's proposal in order to obtain the thinking of those litigators as to whether
1464 they believe that adding this provision to the FBCA is advisable and/or desired;
1465
- 1466 • the Subcommittee will also further evaluate the addition of this section when the
1467 Subcommittee takes up review and analysis of the judicial dissolution provisions of the
1468 FBCA; and
1469
- 1470 • The Subcommittee's leaders will seek to have a Subcommittee member research and
1471 report to the Subcommittee at a future meeting relative to the extent to which this
1472 RMBCA provision has been adopted in other jurisdictions and relative to the form in
1473 which it has been adopted in those other jurisdictions.
1474

1475

1476

1477

1478 **Definitions Used in the Derivative Action Provisions – To be added to Section 607.01401**

1479 () “Derivative proceeding” means a civil suit in the right of a domestic corporation or, to the
1480 extent provided in s. 607.0747, in the right of a foreign corporation.

1481 () “Qualified director” is defined in s. 607.0143.

1482 **§ 607.0143 qualified director.**

1483 (1) A “qualified director” is a director who, at the time action is to be taken under:

1484 (a) s. 607.0744, does not have (i) a material interest in the outcome of the proceeding,
1485 or (ii) a material relationship with a person who has such an interest;

1486 (b) s. 607.0853 or s. 607.0855, (i) is not a party to the proceeding, (ii) is not a director
1487 as to whom a transaction is a director’s conflicting interest transaction or who
1488 sought a disclaimer of the corporation’s interest in a business opportunity under s.
1489 607.0870, which transaction or disclaimer is challenged in the proceeding, and
1490 (iii) does not have a material relationship with a director described in either clause
1491 (i) or clause (ii) of this subsection (1)(b);

1492 (c) s. 607.0862, is not a director (i) as to whom the transaction is a director’s
1493 conflicting interest transaction, or (ii) who has a material relationship with another
1494 director as to whom the transaction is a director’s conflicting interest transaction;
1495 or

1496 (d) s. 607.0870, would be a qualified director under subsection (1)(c) if the business
1497 opportunity were a director’s conflicting interest transaction.

1498 (2) For purposes of this section:

1499 (a) “material relationship” means a familial, financial, professional, employment or
1500 other relationship that would reasonably be expected to impair the objectivity of
1501 the director’s judgment when participating in the action to be taken; and

1502 (b) “material interest” means an actual or potential benefit or detriment (other than
1503 one which would devolve on the corporation or the shareholders generally) that
1504 would reasonably be expected to impair the objectivity of the director’s judgment
1505 when participating in the action to be taken.

1506 (3) The presence of one or more of the following circumstances shall not automatically
1507 prevent a director from being a qualified director:

1508 (a) nomination or election of the director to the current board by any director who is
1509 not a qualified director with respect to the matter (or by any person that has a
1510 material relationship with that director), acting alone or participating with others;

1511 (b) service as a director of another corporation of which a director who is not a
1512 qualified director with respect to the matter (or any individual who has a material
1513 relationship with that director), is or was also a director; or

1514 (c) with respect to action to be taken under s. 607.0744, status as a named defendant,
1515 as a director against whom action is demanded, or as a director who approved the
1516 conduct being challenged.

1517 () "Shareholder" includes a beneficial owner whose shares are held in a voting trust or held by
1518 a nominee on the beneficial owner's behalf.]

1519 Notes:

1520 1. The RMBCA uses the term "qualified" in place of disinterested or independent and defines
1521 qualification in RMBCA s. 1.43. The defined term is applicable for the SLC in derivative actions
1522 and is also used in the conflict of interest provision.

1523 2. Our subcommittee believes that adoption of the "qualified" term as defined in 1.43(a)(1) is
1524 appropriate, as well as the definition of "material" in 1.43(b). However, we do not recommend
1525 the safe harbor carve-outs applicable to derivative actions contained in 1.43(c). Although the
1526 carve-outs retain judicial discretion and do not mandate a decision regarding qualification, our
1527 concern is that the inclusion of the carve-outs could influence a court to regard the carve-outs as
1528 matters of presumptive legislative policy. We do not favor any limitation of a court's role in
1529 determining qualification. The careful way in which courts have examined the qualification issue
1530 under Florida's current law is testimony to maintaining judicial discretion and alerts corporations
1531 to the importance of creating truly independent SLCs. See, e.g., *McDonough v. American Int'l*
1532 *Corp.*, 905 F. Supp. 916 (M.D. Fl. 1995), *Kloha v. Duda*, 226 F. Supp. 2d 1342 (M.D. Fl. 2002),
1533 and *Klein v. FPL Group, Inc.*, 2004 WL 302292 (S.D. Fl. 2004).

1534 3. The definition of shareholder is from subsection (7) of Section 607.07401 of the FBCA.

1535

1536

1537